

# 9.x User Guide

**Jive for Office** 



## **Notices**

For details, see the following topics:

- Notices
- Third-party acknowledgments

## Notices

Copyright © 2000–2021. Aurea Software, Inc. ("Aurea"). All Rights Reserved. These materials and all Aurea products are copyrighted and all rights are reserved by Aurea.

This document is proprietary and confidential to Aurea and is available only under a valid non-disclosure agreement. No part of this document may be disclosed in any manner to a third party without the prior written consent of Aurea. The information in these materials is for informational purposes only and Aurea assumes no responsibility for any errors that may appear therein. Aurea reserves the right to revise this information and to make changes from time to time to the content hereof without obligation of Aurea to notify any person of such revisions or changes.

You are hereby placed on notice that the software, its related technology and services may be covered by one or more United States ("US") and non-US patents. A listing that associates patented and patent-pending products included in the software, software updates, their related technology and services with one or more patent numbers is available for you and the general public's access at https://markings.ip-dynamics.ai/esw/ (the "Patent Notice") without charge. The association of products-to-patent numbers at the Patent Notice may not be an exclusive listing of associations, and other unlisted patents or pending patents may also be associated with the products. Likewise, the patents or pending patents may also be associated with unlisted products. You agree to regularly review the products-to-patent number(s) association at the Patent Notice to check for updates.

Aurea and Aurea Software are registered trademarks of Aurea Software, Inc. in the United States and/or other countries. Additional Aurea trademarks, including registered trademarks, are available at: https://www.aurea.com/legal/trademarks/. Jive is a registered trademark of Jive Software, Inc. in the United States and/or other countries. Additional Jive trademarks, including registered trademarks, are available at: https://www.jivesoftware.com/legal/.

## Third-party acknowledgments

The following third-party trademarks may appear in one or more Jive guides:

- Amazon is a registered trademark of Amazon Technologies, Inc.
- Apache and Derby is a trademark of Apache Software Foundation.
- Chrome is a trademark of Google Inc.
- Eclipse is a registered trademark of the Eclipse Foundation, Inc.
- HP-UX is a registered trademark of Hewlett-Packard Development Company, L.P.
- IBM, AIX, DB2, and WebSphere are registered trademarks of International Business Machines Corporation.
- Intel and Pentium are registered trademarks of Intel Corporation in the U.S. and/or other countries.
- JBoss is a registered trademark, and CentOS is a trademark, of Red Hat, Inc. in the U.S. and other countries.
- Linux is a registered trademark of Linus Torvalds.
- Microsoft, Active Directory, Internet Explorer, SharePoint, SQL Server, Visual Studio, and Windows are registered trademarks or trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries.
- Mozilla and Firefox are registered trademarks of the Mozilla Foundation.
- Oracle and Java are registered trademarks of Oracle and/or its affiliates.
- Progress and OpenEdge are registered trademarks of Progress Software Corporation or one of its subsidiaries or affiliates in the U.S. and other countries.
- Red Hat and Red Hat Enterprise Linux are registered trademarks of Red Hat, Inc. in the U.S. and other countries.
- SAP and SAP NetWeaver are registered trademarks of SAP SE in Germany and in several other countries.
- SUSE is a registered trademark of SUSE, LLC.
- Ubuntu is a registered trademark of Canonical Limited in the United States and/or other countries.
- UNIX is a registered trademark of The Open Group in the United States and other countries.

All other marks contained herein are for informational purposes only and may be trademarks of their respective owners.

## **Table of Contents**

Aurea global support	5
Chapter 1: Jive for Office	6
System requirements	6
Supported browsers	7
Chapter 2: Using Jive for Office	9
Working with shared office documents	9
Getting Jive for Office add-on	10
Connecting to your community	11
Adding documents to community	12
Copying existing documents	15
Keeping documents synchronized	16
Opening documents from community	17
Working with document versions	18
Adding comments	19
Managing collaborators	20
Sharing documents with other users	21
Disconnecting documents from community	21

# Aurea global support

If you encounter a problem while using an Aurea product or require assistance with downloading the software or upgrading a product release, please, try to:

- Search the articles on the Aurea Knowledge Base for solutions to your issues.
- Search the product documentation and other product-related information that are also available on Support Central.

If you still cannot find a solution, open a ticket on Aurea Support Central. Information about the support organization is available on Support Portal as well.

You can also find the setup files on Support Portal.

For information about purchasing an upgrade or professional services, contact your account executive. If you do not know who your account executive is, or for other queries, contact us through our website.

# **1** Jive for Office

Jive for Office is an add-in for Microsoft Office that enables you to store documents in the community and allows multiple users to edit the same document simultaneously in Microsoft Office. Documents stay in sync because Jive for Office notifies you when changes have been made to the document, and you can choose how you want to deal with the changes.

You get real-time notifications of changes and comments being made to a document when you have it open in supported versions of Office. If someone else has changed the document, you also get the chance to merge your changes with other people's. You can incorporate changes into your document, or overwrite your document with the updated document.

You can also keep up-to-date on comments, ratings, and likings.

Jive for Office allows you to use the Microsoft Office applications to create documents and have them saved to Jive, where they can be shared with other users for editing (including simultaneous co-editing) and commenting.

For details, see the following topics:

- System requirements
- Supported browsers

### System requirements

To install Jive for Office, you need the appropriate versions and service packs for Microsoft Office and a supported Windows operating system.

#### Hardware requirements

Jive for Office requires the same hardware as the running version of Microsoft Office, plus at least 40 MB of free disk space.

#### **Supported Microsoft Office versions**

You can use any of the following Microsoft Office versions with Jive for Office:

- 2010
- 2013
- 2016

Jive for Office supports both 32-bit and 64-bit versions. The bitness of Microsoft Outlook determines the bitness of Jive for Office installed on the machine.

Currently, Jive for Office is available only for Microsoft Windows.

#### Supported operating systems and additional requirements

The following operating systems are supported:

- Windows XP Professional with Service Pack 2 or higher
- Windows Vista, with Windows Installer 3.1
- Windows 7
- Windows 8
- Windows 10

Additionally, Jive for Office requires the following to work correctly:

- Microsoft .NET Framework 4
- The supported version of Internet Explorer, refer to Supported browsers on page 7 for list of supported browsers.

**Note:** When you login into a community from the application, Jive for Office uses the Internet Explorer version installed on the machine, and an alternative browser cannot be used.

## Supported browsers

Jive works with most current web browsers. Note that if you need to use Content Editor features, such as cut and paste, script access to the clipboard must be enabled.

- Microsoft Edge\* (Chromium-based).
- Apple Safari 8 and 9 (on Macs only).
- Mobile Safari on iPhone and iPad for iOS 8 and 9 and later. (For a browser-independent native iOS phone app, be sure to look for the Jive Daily Hosted app, if your community uses it, in the App Store.)
- Mobile Chrome on Android devices for Android 4.4 and later. (For a browser-independent native Android phone app, be sure to look for the Jive Daily Hosted app, if your community uses it, in Google Play.)
- Mozilla Firefox\*.
- Google Chrome\*.

\* Google Chrome, Mozilla Firefox, and Microsoft Edge browsers are released frequently. Jive Software makes every effort to test and support the latest version.

**Note:** The recommended minimum screen resolution for desktop devices is 1024 x 768. Results may vary if you use zoom to adjust your view to levels other than 100%.

#### Important notes and restrictions

- Beta versions of web browsers are not supported, but they are quickly added to the supported list after they're formally released.
- Apps are not supported on mobile devices. These features may not work correctly on mobile devices.

# **2** Using Jive for Office

Jive for Office allows you to use the Microsoft Office applications to create documents and have them saved to Jive, where they can be shared with other users for editing (including simultaneous co-editing) and commenting.

For details, see the following topics:

- Working with shared office documents
- Getting Jive for Office add-on
- Connecting to your community
- Adding documents to community
- Copying existing documents
- Keeping documents synchronized
- Opening documents from community
- Working with document versions
- Adding comments
- Managing collaborators
- Sharing documents with other users
- Disconnecting documents from community

## Working with shared office documents

With Jive for Office, you can share your Microsoft Office documents with others in your online community.

As you make changes to a shared document on your computer, Jive for Office synchronizes the document with the version that's visible in the community and provides real-time notifications to users working in the same document.

The notifications tell users that content has changed and give them the option to incorporate the changes into their version using a merge tool. This keeps the content on the community up to date but also synchronizes comments, tags, and collaboration settings between the community and your document.

This feature is supported for Microsoft Office running on Windows. For more information about supported Office versions, see **System requirements** on page 6 in this guide. If you have the appropriate permissions, you can edit everything but the content of a shared document in the community. In the community, you can edit descriptions, tags, and categories, and you can use an Office program to edit the document content.

#### What you can do

With Jive for Office, you can upload Microsoft Office documents to your community, then keep changes to the document in sync while you work in Office.

In particular, with Jive for Office you can:

- Upload Office documents to your community without leaving Microsoft Office. When you upload a document, the community displays a preview of the document. However, the document must still be edited by using Microsoft Office.
- Use Jive in the Office toolbar ribbon to:
  - Change collaboration options to indicate who can edit the document in the community.
  - Create a document for your community.
  - View the currently published version of your local document in your community.
  - Share your document with others.
  - Check for updates to the document.
- Use the Dashboard to:
  - See who else is editing the document.
  - See how many people viewed the document, who created it, and who's contributed to it.
  - View, add, delete, and reply to comments.
  - View and add tags to help categorize the document in the community.
  - Edit the document's description.
  - View older versions of the document.
  - Rate the document and see how others rate it.
  - Browse files similar to the open file.
  - Take a look at more files created by the author.

## **Getting Jive for Office add-on**

You need the Jive for Office add-on to share documents between Microsoft Office applications and your community, which requires Microsoft Windows.If you don't have the add-on, you can get it from **Tools** under your avatar. To get the Jive for Office from Tools:

- 1. In the community, go to Your avatar > Tools .
- 2. Find the Jive for Office add-on and click Download now.
- 3. Close any Microsoft Office programs you are running.
- 4. Run the file after it is downloaded to install the add-on.

The installation program will prompt you for any additional installation requirements.

**Note:** If your device is running an anti-virus software then the downloaded installer files are usually scanned for virus and the installation stalls for some time until the scanning is complete. The installer may even throw an error message that some files required for installation are not available, after sometime the error message goes away and the installation resumes.

After you install the Jive for Office add-on, you need to connect it to your community, as described in **Connecting to your community** on page 11.

## **Connecting to your community**

After you first install Jive for Office, it might not be completely set up to connect to the community you want to synchronize documents with. To connect, you need to provide your user name and password.

To get connected to your community:

- 1. Open a Microsoft Office application.
- 2. On the ribbon, go to the **Jive** tab.
- 3. In Other, click Accounts.
- 4. Click Add to add your Jive account.
- 5. Enter the **Community URL**, which is the exact URL that you use to navigate and login to your community.
- 6. Enter your Jive user name and password.
- 7. Click Log in.

Jive for Office verifies your credentials and logs you in. Now that you connected to your community, you can add documents to the community. For more information, see Adding documents to community on page 12.

## Adding documents to community

To have an Office document appear in the community, you can either add it using Jive Connects for Microsoft Office or upload the document from inside the community.

#### Adding documents from Microsoft Office side

To add a document using Jive Connects for Microsoft Office:

- 1. Connect to the community. For more information, see Connecting to your community on page 11.
- 2. Open or create a document in Microsoft Office.
- 3. On the ribbon, go to the **Jive** tab.

Alternatively, on the ribbon, go to File and select Publish to Jive.

4. In **Document**, click **Publish** to open the **Publish new document** dialog box.

- 5. In **Post to**, select the place in the community where you want to save the document.
- 6. In **Title**, enter the name to be used to publish the document.
- 7. Optionally, in **Description**, enter the description of the document.
- Optionally, in Tags, add tags to help other users find your document in the community.
- **9.** Optionally, in **Categories**, select the place categories for the document. This is available only if the selected place has categories configured.

10.In required, in Store At, change the local file location for your document.11.Click Publish.

**Note:** You don't need to save your document or changes to your document locally before publishing to Jive.

The document is uploaded to the community and the **Jive** Dashboards opens for the document. Alternatively, you can click **Other > Dashboard** on the **Jive** tab to display a panel of information about the document, such as comments, ratings, and the current version number. A Jive Dashboard looks like this:



**Attention:** When you add an Excel spreadsheet to a community, Jive for Office adds a hidden spreadsheet that contains a copy of the original spreadsheet with additional metadata. This copy is used to track changes and allow collaborative working on the spreadsheet.

You can synchronize the uploaded documents with the rest of the community: push your changes into uploaded documents and get the changes done by other users. For more information, see Keeping documents synchronized on page 16.

Once the document is added to the community, you can click **Jive** > **Dashboard** to display a panel of information about the document, such as comments, ratings, and the current version number. The following image shows the Dashboard.

#### Adding documents from the community side

To add a document from inside the community:

- 1. From your community, click (Create) > Document .
- 2. Select Upload a File.
- 3. Select the location for your document.
- 4. Click Choose File.
- 5. Select the file from your desktop.
- 6. Click Publish.

Depending on the size of your document, it might take a few seconds to upload it.

## **Copying existing documents**

You can upload an existing document and rename it as a new document to start fresh within the community. This creates a new uploaded document in the community, leaving the previously uploaded document in the community as it was when you last synchronized.

The new document will have the content of the previous one, but won't have its other properties, such as comments, collaboration settings, and tags.

**Note:** Making a new document in this way leaves you with an Office document that has the same content, but without all of the community-related information. To get the previous Office document with that information, go to that document's page in your community and click the **Download** link beneath its preview.

To create a new document from an existing uploaded document:

- 1. In an Office app, open the document you want to start from.
- 2. In the ribbon, go to Jive .
- 3. Select Publish as a new document.
- 4. In the dialog box, select a place in the community where you want to save the document.
- 5. In the Title box, enter the new name.
- 6. Click Publish.

## **Keeping documents synchronized**

After you've connected your community to Office, Jive Connects for Microsoft Office keeps your documents synchronized with the community.

#### What does Jive for Office sync

Jive for Office does the following:

- Updates the document preview in the community when you save changes to the document's content.
- Updates the Office document comments list with comments made in the community.
- Lets you see updates from others in your community and review them before using them.
- Keeps changes to community-related document properties in sync between the Office application and the community. When a change is made in one place, it shows up in the other. You can see the following properties in the Dashboard:
  - Tags
  - Categories
  - The document's title
  - The document's description
  - Revision activity
  - Document's state

#### Getting updates from community

To get document updates from the community:

 When your document has been updated by someone in the community, you get a real-time pop-up notification. Alternatively, you can also click Check for Updates.



- 2. If there are no changes, a message tells you so. Otherwise, you can select how you want to deal with the changes:
  - To accept the newer version, overwriting your own local changes, select **Replace my version**.

You can also user the **Overwrite Local Version** check box from the Jive toolbar at any time if you want to discard your local work and start over with the published version.

- Merge and Review to review which changes you want to use.
- Ignore to continue working without accepting or rejecting changes at this time.
- 3. When you're done working, save your changes. Others users in the community can see your recent changes.
- 4. If at any time you want to overwrite the current local document with the version on the community, click Check for Updates > Overwrite local version in the Jive toolbar.

#### Pushing updates to community

You can edit documents locally in Office apps, and then publish updates to the community.

To upload changes and generate notifications about the update:

• In the ribbon, select Jive, then click Publish > Publish update .

To upload changes and do not show the update in activity streams:

• In the ribbon, select Jive, then click Publish > Publish update (minor edit).

## **Opening documents from community**

You can open Office documents from your community to edit them in Office app.

To open an uploaded Office document:

- 1. Open an Office app.
- 2. In the ribbon, go to File, then select Open from Jive.

This opens the **Open document** dialog box.

3. If you know the place where the file is uploaded, select it in **From**.

The list of available files is retrieved from the community and displayed in the dialog box.

- 4. Select the file you want to edit.
- 5. In Store at, specify the location for the file to be stored.
- 6. Click Open.

The file is retrieved from the community and you can edit it. When finished, you can push the changes back to the community, as described in Keeping documents synchronized on page 16.

## Working with document versions

As you work on a document in Office, Jive Connects for Microsoft Office keeps track of changes, including community-related information such as comments. It can sync your changes with what's going on in the community with the click of a button. You can even view the changes that have been made since previous versions of the document while in Office. You can also save a previous version as the current one.

The version management feature does its work in part by using the change tracking feature built into Office. That means that if you download a document that someone has made changes to, you might see revision marks placed there by the change tracking feature. The document is fine, but the revision marks can make it hard to read. You can hide the marks in the following ways:

- In Word 2007 or 2010, select the **Review** tab. In the **Tracking** group, select **Final** in the **Display for Review** menu to hide the changes.
- In Word 2003, locate the **Reviewing** toolbar. In the **Display for Review** menu, select **Final**.

#### Work with document revisions

Jive Connects for Microsoft Office creates a new version of a document whenever you save changes to the document.

To view previous versions of a document:

- 1. Open a community document. You can see the dashboard on the right. If you don't, select Jive in the toolbar and click **Dashboard**.
- Under Versions, if the version you want to see isn't visible, scroll down to display it. Previous versions are listed with the date and time when they were saved. If you hover over a version, you can see the name of the person who published that version.
- 3. From the list of versions, click the one you want to view.

**Note:** You can't save a previous version as the current one. To recover a previous version, open that version and publish it under a new name.

#### Work with document activity

Jive Connects for Microsoft Office displays a list of activity related to the document. This activity includes versions saved and comments added. By clicking certain items in the activity list, you can add information to it. For example, you can view and add comments from the **Comments** tab. To view document activity:

1. In Office, click **Jive** and then click **Dashboard**.

In the **Overview** panel, you can see details about the document, such as when it was last edited and what version you're looking at.

- 2. Click the arrows next to tags, categories or description to add or edit this information and have it shows up in the community.
- 3. In the **Comments** tab, click **Reply** to add a comment to the open document. These comments show up in the community as comments. For more information, see Adding comments on page 19.
- 4. You can also browse other documents that the author has created or documents similar to the open document.

## Adding comments

When you comment on a document in Office or the community (as opposed to adding inline comments in the body of a document), your comments are synchronized and appear in both places. When you add inline comments in either location, these comments are visible where they are created, but are not synchronized or visible from the other location.

There are two kinds of comments for shared Office documents:

- Document comments are like those people make elsewhere in the community. People can usually comment on shared documents just as they comment on other kinds of documents. These are added in the community or in Office. You can see these in Office when you go to Jive > Dashboard and then click the Comments tab.
- Inline comments appear in the document itself. An inline comment is a way to add a comment to a particular part of the document. When you add an inline comment in the community, it shows up in the community on the Inline Comments tab at the bottom of the document, as well as in the document preview, but is not visible in Office. Inline comments you create in Office can be seen in the Review tab when you select Final Showing Markup in the Tracking group, but cannot be seen in the Jive community.

To add a document comment:

- 1. In Microsoft Office, go to Jive > Dashboard , and then click Comments.
- 2. Type your comment.
- 3. Click Add a comment.

			ji\	/
Test doc.docx in Mohamed				
PUBLISHED		Cu	rrent version:	1
1 comment 🔺			🔓 Like	(0
Administrator 1 minute ago at 12:56 A a new comment	М			
	Actions	🖞 Like (0)	🖵 Reply	

 You can click **Reply** to reply to an existing comment or **Delete** to delete an existing comment.

## **Managing collaborators**

You can add collaborators to work on your Office documents.

By default, when you use for Office to add a document to your community, the document's collaboration options are set as follows:

- Only you can edit the document when you save to your personal container.
- Anyone can edit it when you save it to an open place.

You can change these defaults to fit the document needs.

To change collaboration options:

- 1. In Office, open the document you want to start from.
- 2. In the ribbon, got to the **Jive** toolbar.
- 3. Click Collaboration.

- 4. In the dialog box, select who can edit the document:
  - **Specific people**: Only the people whose names you choose can make changes. If you select this, begin typing the person's name in the box beneath **Specific people**. When their full name appears, click it to add it to the list.
  - Just you: Only you can make changes to the document's content.
  - Anyone: Anyone in the community can make changes.

5. Click Update.

## Sharing documents with other users

An uploaded document you can share with other community users.

You send a direct a message to the user or users, and they receive a notification about the uploaded document.

To share a document from an Office app:

- 1. In an Office app, open the document you want to start from.
- 2. In the ribbon, got to the **Jive** toolbar.
- 3. Click Share.

This opens the Share This Item dialog box.

- 4. In **Share With**, select the user whom you want to apprise about the new document.
- 5. In Message, add a comment about the document for the users.
- 6. Click Share.

For more information about sharing content items in Jive, see Using social groups in the Jive 9.x User Help.

## **Disconnecting documents from community**

From the **Jive** ribbon tab in your Office app, you can check is the opened document is connected to the community. If necessary, you can break the connection.

To disconnect a document from the community:

- 1. In an Office app, open the document you want to disconnect.
- 2. In the ribbon, go to Jive .

#### 3. Click Disconnect.

Disconnecting a document leaves you with its local copy without all of the community-related information. Note that connection to community at times cannot be established. In this case, the status of the document cannot be determined. You can try to reconnect the document to the community by clicking **Retry** > **Connect**. Or you can break the connection regardless of its status by clicking **Retry** > **Unlink document**.